FILED MAR 2 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Sy

Chief Beputy Clerk

ANTHONY LOPEZ,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 92,292

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

## TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 1994, the State Attorney in Hillsborough County filed an information charging the Appellant, Anthony Lopez, and Juan Delgado¹ with robbery with a firearm of more than \$300.00, in violation of section 812.13(1) and (2)(A), Florida Statutes (1993) (v.1:R1, 14-16). On January 6, 1995, the State filed notice that it sought a habitual violent felony offender sentence (v.1:R4, 21).

On February 23, 1995, the defense filed a motion in limine and/or a motion to suppress identification evidence (v.1:R22-25). The motion asserted that the procedure and the photo-packs used in the out of court identifications were so suggestive as to taint the identifications (v.1:R4, 22-25).

On March 24, 1995, a hearing was held before the Honorable Cynthia Holloway on the defense motion (v.1:R5; v7:T478-514). Defense counsel asserted the photo-packs did not include similar looking persons (v.7:T484-485). After Mr. Dietrich chose a dark complected Hispanic, Juan Delgado, from one of the photo-packs, the detective told Mr. Dietrich he chose someone under investigation, which counsel asserted tainted prospective in-court identification by Mr. Dietrich (v.7:T486).

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  On February 27, 1995, Juan Delgado entered a best interest guilty plea to the robbery charge (v.1:R5). He was sentenced to two years community control followed by five years probation (v.1:R4). On August 8, 1995, Mr. Delgado admitted violating his community control (v.1:R8). On September 18, 1995, subsequent to testifying at Mr. Lopez' trial, Mr. Delgado was again sentenced to two years community control followed by five years probation (v.1:R10).

Defense counsel stated Mr. Dietrich told Detective Baker he was uncertain whether he could identify the second robber (v.7:-T485). Detective Baker told Mr. Dietrich the second photo-pack contained someone he was investigating (v.7:T487). Mr. Dietrich examined the photo-pack for two minutes, then said one individual looked like the second robber, but the hair was different (v.7:-T487). Detective Baker told Mr. Dietrich the picture was two years old, knowing this was false because it was a 1994 arrest photograph, then congratulated Mr. Dietrich for choosing the individuals he was investigating for the robbery (v.7:T487-488). Detective Baker wrote 100% sure on the form concerning the identification (v.7:T500-501). Counsel asserted that Detective Baker tainted the prospective in-court identification of Mr. Lopez by Mr. Dietrich (v.7:T489-490).

The State argued the issue was about weight, not admissibility, of the evidence (v.7:T493-500). The trial court reserved ruling until it had an opportunity to look at the photo-packs and read the depositions (v.1:R5; v.7:T501-502, 513). The trial court was disturbed by the actions of the Detective Baker in lying (v.7:T503-504).

At the same hearing, the State sought a continuance because of new witnesses, Mr. Lopez's mother-in-law and sister-in-law (v.7:T504-512). When the prosecutor returned a call to the mother-in-law on the previous evening, the mother-in-law wanted to talk about a "sex case" or "indecent case" which had never been filed (v.7:T511). The prosecutor told her he would meet with her, "but

we will not discuss the sex case." (v.7:T511). The continuance was granted (v.7:T512-513).

On April 3, 1995, a hearing was held before Cynthia Holloway (v.1:R6; supp.:T560-571). The photo packs were submitted to the trial court (v.1:R6; supp.:T565-566). Defense counsel again argued that only two persons in Mr. Lopez's photo pack were olive skinned Hispanic individuals as had been described by the witness and only two or three olive skinned individuals in the other photo pack (supp.:T567-568). Defense counsel also argued Detective Baker's statements tainted the identification by Mr. Dietrich (supp.:T569). The trial court held Mr. Lopez's photo pack was not suggestive and the motion to suppress was denied (v.1:R6; supp.:568-569). At a subsequent hearing, held before Cynthia Holloway on September 8, 1995, a defense motion to reconsider the motion to suppress identification was denied (v.1:R9; v.7:T545).

A jury trial was held on September 11 and 12, 1995, before the Honorable J. Rogers Padgett (v.1:R9, 39-42; v.2-5:T1-433). The jury was selected on September 11, 1995 (v.1:R9, 39; v.2:T1-74). While defense counsel was conducting voir dire of the panel, the following occurred:

MR. FERNANDEZ [defense counsel]: If I may just have a moment with my client, Your Honor.

[The attorney and defendant confer at counsel table.]

 $\ensuremath{\mathtt{MR}}.$  FERNANDEZ: No further questions at this time your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Counsel approach the bench, please, when you're ready.

(v.2:T40-41). A bench conference followed (v.2:T40). The State struck one juror for cause (v.2:T40). Defense counsel struck one juror for cause and exercised three peremptory strikes (v.2:T40-41). Mr. Lopez did not participate in this bench conference (v.2:T40-41).

While defense counsel conducted further voir dire of the panel, the following occurred:

MR. FERNANDEZ: Just  ${\bf a}$  moment, Your Honor. [The attorney and defendant confer at

counsel table.]

MR. FERNANDEZ: No further questions at

this time your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Approach the bench, please.

(v.2:T59). A bench conference followed (v.2:T59). Defense counsel exercised three peremptory strikes (v.2:T59). Mr. Lopez did not participate in this bench conference (v.2:T59).

While defense counsel conducted further voir dire of the panel, the following occurred:

 $\mbox{MR. FERNANDEZ:} \mbox{ If I may have a moment,} \mbox{Your Honor.}$ 

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. BOSSIE [the prosecutor]: Judge can I ask one question to follow up?
THE COURT: No, save it.

(v.2:T73). A bench conference followed (v.2:T73). The State exercised two peremptory strikes (v.2:T73). Mr. Lopez did not participate in this bench conference (v.2:T73). After a lunch break, the following exchange occurred:

MS. BOSSIE: Ms. Hill, good afternoon.

MS. HILL: Hi.

MS. BOSSIE: Are you married, and do you have any children?

MS. HILL: No.

MS. BOSSIE: Okay. You've indicated that, from your slip, that you've been a victim of crime. What type of crime was that?

MS. HILL: My sister's been missing for

like a year and they haven't found anything, and also my car has been stolen.

MS. BOSSIE: Ms. Rivers, I apologize, I could not hear you.

MS. HILL: My sister has been missing for a year and they haven't found any clues or anything, and also my car has been stolen.

MS. BOSSIE: Okay. You weren't present when your car was stolen?

MS. HILL: No, I didn't see it get stolen. A lot of cars were stolen that same day.

MS. BOSSIE: Do you have any -- because of the situation you are in regarding your sister, do you have any feelings that you may not feel comfortable as a juror in any type of case, or would you be able to set that aside and just weigh the facts of this case because that's kind of a unique situation.

 $\mbox{\rm MS. HILL:}$  I would probably be able to set it aside.

MS. BOSSIE: I want you to clarify what you say about, clarify any feelings you have toward law enforcement or personally because that's a very traumatic event for you based on that situation. So if that is going to come into play if you're chosen as a juror --

MS. HILL: No.

MS. BOSSIE: You would be able to set that aside, listen to the facts of this case and come up with a verdict?

MS. HILL: Yes.

MR. FERNANDEZ: And the fact, Ms. Hill that a member of your family has been the victim of crime, you would be able to keep that out of your deliberation?

MS. HILL: Yes.

(v.3:T79-80, 87). The trial court asked counsel to the bench for a final conference at which the jury was accepted without further strikes (v.3:T87). Mr. Lopez did not participate in this bench conference (v.2:T87). The jurors chosen were Hill, Green, Gonzalez, Kroll, Fowler, and Kline (v.1:R39; v.5:T430-431). With

the exception of Hill and Kroll, each member of the panel who witnessed or was a victim of crime was stricken (v2.:T15-23, 26-28, 42-48, 58, 60-66; v.3:T79-80, 87).

Motions were considered before the trial (v.3:T88-97). Defense counsel requested that he be allowed to call Mr. Lopez's mother and his former attorney as witnesses (v.3:T88-89). They had not been listed as defense witnesses (v.3:T89-90). Defense counsel asserted the potential need for their testimony became known after defense counsel reviewed with Mr. Lopez the depositions of two State's witnesses taken one week earlier (v.3:T89, 91). The trial court denied the request to allow the defense to present these new witnesses (v.3:T95). The State was granted a motion in limine concerning past cocaine use by a State's witness and the State said it would not bring out testimony from this witness concerning sexual batteries (v.3:T95-96).

During cross-examination of Maria Pena, the State objected when defense counsel asked if Ms. Pena's mother knew about Ms. Pena's reputation for truthfulness (v4:T321). The trial court sustained the objection, believing this matter had been covered in pretrial, despite defense counsel's assertion that it had not been covered in pretrial (v4:T321).

Defense counsel began cross-examination of Ms. Meads, Mr. Lopez's sister-in-law, as follows:

BY MR. FERNANDEZ:

Q. Ms. Meads, if there could be one word that would sum up your feelings about Mr. Lopez, hate would be a good word?

A. Asshole would be a better one.

- Q. Okay. Asshole. And hate, good enough?
  - A. Yeah.
- Q. And you have this hate for Anthony Lopez today as you speak in this courtroom?
- MS. BOSSIE [prosecutor]: Judge, may we approach?

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. FERNANDEZ:

- O. Correct?
- A. I'm very upset with him.
- Q. Okay. And on June 3rd, 1994, you hated Anthony Lopez?
- A. Since I found out he molested my daughter, I hated him.
- MR. FERNANDEZ: I would ask for an instruction and move for mistrial.

THE DEFENDANT: That's it right there.

THE COURT: Okay. The jury will disregard that remark.

Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: But that has nothing to do with this evidence I was shown. It has nothing to do with what I was shown. I can't make that up, sir.

0 .: You've --

MR. FERNANDEZ: Your Honor, may we approach?

THE COURT: No. Go ahead. You opened the door.

#### (v.4:T331-332). When the State rested, the following occurred:

MR. FERNANDEZ: Your Honor, let me put on the record that I am strenuously asking this Court to grant a mistrial. At no time did defense counsel open the door, in the questions I asked Ms. Meads. The question was simply asked, and I want this for the record, do you hate Mr. Lopez now and did you hate Mr. Lopez back on June 3rd, 1994. That is all counsel said. I did not open the door to any type of explanation, and I strenuously move for a mistrial.

THE COURT: Do you want to say anything about it?

MS. BOSSIE: Yes I do. He kept going on, you hate him, you hate him, and she wanted to explain why, and I think he opened the door. He did it again on this witness.

THE COURT: My recollection is that you were in effect asking her for a date on which this hate started.

 $\mbox{MR. FERNANDEZ:}\mbox{ No, I said on the date of the crime.}$ 

MS. BOSSIE: Your Honor, he was asking her for a date, you may have offered the date of the crime, but she was answering the question about the date, how she came up with that answer, the date that she started hating Mr. Lopez.

MR. FERNANDEZ: I just want the record to be clear.

MS. BOSSIE: One moment Mr. Fernandez.

Judge, obviously I think he has standard motions, but he's going to call Maria Pena's mother just for the fact to say that she lies to her all the time, which you sustained an objection to.

THE COURT: We already talked about that at pretrial.

MS. BOSSIE: I don't want her called to the stand.

MR. FERNANDEZ: Let me put it on the record, because my client definitely wants me to call her, and then the Court can make its rulings.

THE COURT: I've already ruled.

MR. FERNANDEZ: I don't believe you have.

MS. BOSSIE: He solely wants to call her mom to say she's in a gang and she lies to me, and I think that's totally irrelevant to the questions. You've ruled and sustained my objections in my case.

MR. FERNANDEZ: Let me put forth on the record the purpose of Sonja Santiago. She knows her daughter to be in a Folk Nation gang. She knows her to be in a gang with Juanito. She knows her daughter to be a chronic liar. She knows her daughter would lie for Juanito and has done so in the past. And she knows her reputation, at least the question is, does she know her reputation in the community and she would say that reputation is bad.

THE COURT: Okay. It's on the record. Objection sustained.

(v.4:T340-343).

Defense counsel's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (v.4:T343; v.5:T383). Mr. Lopez was found guilty as charged (v.1:R9, 41, 61; v.6:T430-431).

On October 16, 1995, a sentencing proceeding was held (v.1:R10; v.6:T434-477). Defense counsel noted Mr. Lopez was once offered twelve years imprisonment on this charge and the codefendant was sentenced to two years community control (v.6:T440, 447). Mr. Lopez asserted his innocence, stated the trial had been unfair, and stated the evidence established a plastic gun was used in the incident (v.6:T450-455, 473-474). Mr. Lopez asked for help (v.6:T450, 454-455). The defense requested a guidelines sentence and drug treatment (v.1:T441, 456, 471).

Mr. Lopez was adjudicated guilty of armed robbery and he was sentenced to imprisonment for a term natural life as a habitual violent felony offender, with concurrent 3 and 15 year minimums (v.1:R10, 65, 68-69, 72; v.6:T474). He was also sentenced to a concurrent 15 year sentence for violating his probation from a 1990 case (v.6:T475-476).

On October 19, 1995, the defense filed a motion for new trial, asserting, among other grounds that Mr. Lopez was prejudiced by exclusion of witnesses and the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial due to comments of a State witness (v.1:R75-76). The motion was denied (v.1:T76). A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 19, 1995 (v.1:R77).

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Lopez's conviction, holding that "failure to obtain a <u>Coney</u> waiver cannot

be raised on direct appeal without an objection made on the same grounds at trial." Lopez v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D176 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 9, 1998) (quoting Lee v. State, 695 So. 2d 1314, 131.5 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). The court certified the following question:

IF A <u>CONEY</u> ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL, MUST A PRISONER FILE A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ALLEGING UNDER OATH THAT HE OR SHE WOULD NOT HAVE EXERCISED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN THE SAME MANNER AS HIS OR HER ATTORNEY?

Lopez, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D176. The court acknowledged interdistrict conflict, citing Butler v. State, 676 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Wilson v. State, 680 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), dismissed, 693 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1997); Brower v. State, 684 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), review granted, 694 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 1997). Lopez, 23 FLW at D176.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Assistant manager Barry Mitchell, Daniel Dietrich, Jamilla Dickenson, Phillip King, and Youssey El-Shammaa were working the evening shift at a Kentucky Fried Chicken in Hillsborough County on June 3, 1994 (v.3:T112-113, 195-196, 214, 220). After closing at 11:00 P.M., the employees cleaned the store (v.3:T113, 196, 220). A man tried to enter the locked doors (v.3:T136, 200). Mr. Dietrich signalled to him that the store was closed (v.3:T136). Mr. Dietrich saw the man's face briefly, perhaps ten seconds (v.3:T136, 160). Between 11:30 and 12:00, Mr. Dietrich, who wanted to leave, was escorted by the assistant manager, Mr. Mitchell, to the front door (v.3:T113-114, 196-197, 214-215).

As Mr. Dietrich stepped out of the door, a man quickly approached, put a gun in his face, and ordered him back into the store (v.3:T114-115, 143-144, 197-198, 215). The gun looked like an Uzi, but Mr. Dietrich stated it may have been a toy gun (v.3:T117, 143, 205). Mr. Dietrich saw the man's face briefly, perhaps ten seconds (v.3:T115-116, 160). Mr. Mitchell also saw the man's face for a few seconds (v.3:T199). It was the same man who approached the door earlier (v.3:T136, 199-200). They entered the store and the gunman grabbed Mr. Mitchell who was recognizable as the manager by the color of his shirt (v.3:T116, 128). The gunman yelled for Mr. Mitchell to give him the night deposit (v.3:T118, 200). They walked to the back of the store (v.3:T117, 147, 198). Another man ran into the store and followed them (v.3:T117, 123, 128, 150).

While the gunmen entered, Ms. Dickenson ran to back of the store, tried to dial 911, then locked herself and Mr. El-Shammaa in a bathroom (v.3:T215-216). She did not see the robbery and had not seen the robbers' faces (v.3:T216-217, 219).

The gumman ordered the employees to raise their hands, pay attention, and do not do anything stupid (v.3:T123) He then ordered Mr. Dietrich and Mr. King to get down on the ground, keep their faces on the ground, and not look at the robbers (v.3:T123, 200-201, 221). Mr. King did not get a good look at the gunman, but thought the shorter, older, and possibly darker man held the gun (v.3:T222-224). Mr. Mitchell took the gunman to the safe (v.3:T124, 200). The safe was in the employee break room adjacent to the office (v.3:T121, 126, 130). The other robber kept moving around and yelling for employees not to look at him (v.3:T124-125, 165-166). This man had a dark duffle bag strapped over his shoulder (v.3:T124, 151-152, 164-165, 205). This man appeared to have a gun, but Dietrich saw no gun (v.3:T125, 166).

The gunman ordered Mr. Mitchell to open the safe and give him all of the money (v.3:T125-126, 201). Mr. Mitchell saw the gunman again while at the safe (v.3:T209). The gunman made a clicking sound with the top of the gun (v.3:T202, 204-205). The gunman called the second robber into the office (v.3:T125-126). Mr. Mitchell then saw the second robber (v.3:T201). Mr. Mitchell gave the night deposit to the gunman, as he ordered (v.3:T202). The gunman pulled other money from the safe (v.3:T202-203). The robbers forced Mr. Mitchell to the floor (v.3:T203). The man with

the bag left the office and, obviously scared, yelled "Let's get out of here, let's go." (v.3:T126). Both robbers then ran out the front door (v.3:T127, 165, 204-205).

Mr. Dietrich hit the alarm button in the office (v.3:T127). He told Ms. Dickenson and Mr. El-Shammaa to come out of the manager's rest room (v.3:T128, 218). Police arrived in a few minutes (v.3:T137). The robbery occurred in three to five minutes (v.3:T160-164). \$2,219.05 was taken (v.3:T207). Ms. Dickenson's purse, containing her jewelry which included a chain with a heart that said "sweet 16," was also taken from on top of the safe (v.3:T218).

Around midnight, Deputy Booth arrived at the restaurant (v.3:T179-180, 218). Deputy Booth interviewed the manager, Mr. Mitchell, and put out a radio alert based on Mr. Mitchell's description of the robbers (v.3:T181-183). Mr. Mitchell said both men had curly hair (v.3:T184). Mr. King told police he could not identify the robbers (v.3:T222-223). Deputy Booth never interviewed the other employees (v.3:T182-183, 218). K-9 units were brought to the scene, but they had no success (v.3:T181). A crime scene technician unsuccessfully processed coin trays and the safe for fingerprints (v.3:T188-189, 191-193).

Mr. Dietrich described the gunman as 5'9" to 5'11" tall, weighing at least 175 pounds, with an olive complexion, short dark receding hair combed straight back, a few days growth of facial hair, and appearing to be Hispanic (v.3:T132-134, 147, 154). Mr. Dietrich described the second man as 5'11" to 6' tall, very skinny,

with a very dark complexion, curly stringy hair shaved on the sides of his head, sparse facial hair, and appearing to be Hispanic (v.3:T134-135). Mr. Dietrich thought the second man looked familiar (v.3:T135, 149). In court, Mr. Dietrich identified Mr. Lopez as the gunman (v.3:T137).

Mr. Mitchell described the gunman as 5'9" to 5'10" tall, weighing at least 175 pounds, with a dark complexion, short dark hair combed straight back, a few days growth of facial hair, and a Hispanic accent (v.3:T205-207, 211-212). Mr. Mitchell described the second man as younger, and the same height, but skinnier than the first man, with a very dark complexion (v.3:T207, 212). In court, Mr. Mitchell identified Mr. Lopez as the gunman (v.3:T208-209, 212).

Detective Baker conducted the follow-up investigation of the robbery (v.4:T264). Detective Baker unsuccessfully attempted to do a composite with Mr. Mitchell (v.4:T280-282). Deputy Baker had no information about the color of the eyes of the suspects (v.4:T279). Another officer gave him the names of some juveniles, including a runaway, Maria Pena (v.4:T265-266, 276).

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