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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: This issue has not been preserved for appellate
review. Alternatively, any failure to follow the Coney rule was
at most harmless error.

Issue II: The trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion for mistrial, because defense counsel invited any error. Petitioner may not complain about allegedly improper collateral crimes evidence, because defense counsel himself was guilty of repeatedly attempting to elicit improper collateral crimes evidence. Alternatively, Mead's mention of the alleged sexual assault committed by Petitioner upon her daughter was at most harmless error.

Issue III: The trial court properly excluded potential defense witness Sonja Santiago, because her testimony would not have impeached the testimony of State witness Maria Pena.

Alternatively, the refusal to admit Santiago's testimony was at most harmless error.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

NO REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS BEEN SHOWN IN PETITIONER'S ABSENCE FROM BENCH CONFERENCES AT WHICH PEREMPTORY STRIKES WERE EXERCISED. (Restated).

A. Relevant Facts:

At the conclusion of the initial voir dire questioning by both the prosecutor and defense counsel, the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: If I may just have a moment with my client, Your Honor.

(The attorney and defendant confer at counsel table.)

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No further questions at this time, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Counsel approach the bench please, when you're ready. (T40)

At the bench conference the prosecutor and defense counsel each exercised one strike for cause. (T40) Defense counsel then exercised three peremptory strikes. (T40-41)

Five more potential jurors were then called up for questioning. (T41) At the conclusion of additional questioning by the prosecutor and defense counsel, the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Just a moment,

Your Honor.

(The attorney and defendant confer at counsel table.)

THE COURT: Okay. Approach the bench, please. (T59)

At the bench conference defense counsel exercised five more peremptory strikes. (T59) Five more potential jurors were called up for questioning. (T60) At the conclusion of additional questioning the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: If I may have a moment, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, can I ask one question to follow-up?

THE COURT: No, save it. (T73)

During the bench conference that followed the State exercised two peremptory strikes, and two more prospective jurors were called for questioning. (T74)

Thereafter both the prosecutor and defense counsel engaged in additional voir dire questioning. At the conclusion of that questioning both sides accepted the panel. (T87)

B. Legal Analysis:

In <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert.</u>

<u>denied</u>, ______, 116 S. Ct. 315, 133 L. Ed. 2d 218 (1995), the Florida Supreme Court held that a defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where

pretrial juror challenges are exercised. The court further held that a defendant can waive that right, or can ratify strikes made outside his presence if the court through proper inquiry certifies that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. The State acknowledges that no such waiver inquiry was made in the instant case.⁴

1. This issue has not been preserved for appellate review:

Both the first and third districts have held that a violation of the **Coney** rule constitutes fundamental error which may be raised for the first time on appeal, notwithstanding the lack of a contemporaneous objection. **Mejia v. State**, 675 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), **modified**, 696 So. 2d 339 (Fla. 1997); **Wilson v. State**, 680 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), **appeal dism.**, 693 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1997). However this Court has not followed the first and third districts and has recently certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court:

IF A CONEY ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL, MUST A PRISONER FILE A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ALLEGING

⁴In <u>Boyett v. State</u>, 688 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1996), the Florida Supreme Court stated in a footnote that the definition of "presence" would change as of January 1, 1997. On that date the amendment to Rule 3.180 (b) would become effective. The new rule reads: "A defendant is present for purposes of this rule if the defendant is physically in attendance for the courtroom proceeding, and has a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel on the issue being discussed." Petitioner's trial began September 11, 1995. Therefore the amendment to the rule was not in effect yet and does not apply to him.

UNDER OATH THAT HE OR SHE WOULD NOT HAVE EXERCISED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN THE SAME MANNER AS HIS OR HER ATTORNEY?

Hill v. State, 696 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Although this question was certified by Judge Altenbernd in his concurring opinion in Hill, the majority joined in the certified question. In deciding Hill, this Court found that Coney did not even apply to the facts of that case, and therefore declined to address the certified question. Hill v. State, 700 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1997). See also Ross v. State, 696 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) ("[W]e question whether the defendant should be required to raise this issue in a postconviction motion") cert. denied, U.S. , 118 S. Ct. 112, 139 L.Ed. 2d 65 (1997). It is this question of great public importance which the second district has again certified in the instant case.

It is the position of Respondent that this Court should not follow the first and third districts and should answer the certified question in the affirmative, for the reasons explained as follows:

The purpose of a postconviction motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 is to inquire into alleged constitutional infirmities of a judgment or sentence, not to review ordinary trial errors which are cognizable on direct appeal. McCrae v. State, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). Matters

which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a rule 3.850 motion. Id. It has been held that an attorney's failure to object to reversible error may constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, which must be raised in a motion for postconviction relief under rule 3.850, not on direct appeal. See, e.g., <u>Davis v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), <u>appeal after remand</u>, 683 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Respondent contends that postconviction review is necessary in a case such as this one, because the record does not show whether Petitioner was, in fact, at the bench conference, or whether he ever conferred with his attorney about the jury strikes. Postconviction review of factual evidence not in the record is permitted because there can be no practical determination on the basis of the record provided for direct appeal. Brown v. State, 633 So. 2d 112, 116 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (Altenbernd, J., concurring). See State v. Callaway, 658 so. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995) (issue should be dealt with under rule 3.850 which provides for an evidentiary hearing when issue is not pure question of law, but depends upon resolution of factual evidence); see also Mitchell v. State, 309 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) (where record is insufficient to permit a review of alleged noncompliance with statutory notice required when a minor

is charged with a crime, relief is properly sought under **Fla. R. Crim. P.** 3.850; therefore, orders appealed were affirmed without prejudice to Petitioner to raise the issue in a postconviction motion). These types of questions are best handled by means of a postconviction proceeding, with its built-in provision for an evidentiary hearing.

In his concurring opinion in **Ganyard v. State**, 686 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), aff'd, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S65 (Fla. January 29, 1998), Judge Lawrence noted that ethical rules require a defense attorney to consult with and inform his client about his right to have input during the selection of the jury, and if the attorney fails to do this, the defendant may bring it to the trial court's attention. Moreover, if he is not aware of his rights, he may bring his claim in postconviction proceedings under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. <u>Id.</u> Similarly, in his concurring opinion in Hill, Judge Altenbernd stated that a defendant who has not preserved a claim under Coney must bring his claim in a motion for postconviction relief under rule 3.850 in which he must swear that he would have done something differently during the selection of his jurors. Hill v. State, 696 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) (Altenbernd, J., concurring). The oath requirement arose from a concern about the use of false allegations in postconviction motions. Gorham v. State, 494 So.

2d 211 (Fla. 1986). See also Brown v. State, 633 So. 2d 112, 116 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (Altenbernd, J., concurring) ("To avoid abuse, the rule [3.850] requires sworn allegations of the critical facts that are outside the record.")

The need for this requirement is exemplified by the decision in <u>Dorsev v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), in which the Fourth District refused to find harmless error with respect to a <u>Coney</u> violation on the basis that the defendant's participation in jury selection might have resulted in different jurors deciding the case. The holding in <u>Dorsev</u> is at odds with the decision in <u>Ganvard v. State</u>, 686 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), in which the First District found harmless error where a defendant did not participate in a bench conference because no peremptories were exercised at all. Under the reasoning of <u>Dorsev</u>, who could say what might have happened if the defendant had been involved in the bench conference? After all, he might have stricken one of the panel members who ultimately served.

Respondent submits that the thrust of the issue should not be something so speculative. Rather, the issue is whether the defendant's right to a fair trial was violated because he would have selected or not selected specific jurors for specific reasons if he had participated. In other words, he cannot make the bare conclusory allegation without providing specific facts to back it up.

Requiring a factually detailed and sworn postconviction motion comports with the requirements for relief with respect to other types of errors. For example, in Sorgman v. State, 549 so. 2d 686 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District held that a motion for postconviction relief alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to interview and call witnesses must apprise the trial court of the names of the witnesses, substance of their testimony, and how the omission prejudiced the outcome of the defendant's trial. Likewise, in **State v. Beach**, 592 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1992), on remand, 600 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), this Court stated that a defendant who challenges the validity of using his prior convictions on a guidelines scoresheet on the basis that they were obtained without benefit of counsel has to swear that (1) the offense involved was punishable by more than six months of imprisonment or that he was actually imprisoned on that charge; (2) he was entitled to court-appointed counsel because he was indigent; (3) no counsel was appointed for him; and (4) he did not waive his right to counsel. cf. Hill y, Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L. Ed. 2d 203 (1985) (when a defendant challenges his conviction following entry of a guilty plea, that defendant must show that there was reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to

trial) .5

Alternatively, Respondent addresses this issue as follows:

2. Anv failure to follow the Conevrule was at most harmless error:

Regardless of whether this issue is fundamental, it is still subject to a harmless error analysis. Meiia v. State, 675 So. 2d 996, 1000 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), modified on other grounds, 696 so. 2d 339 (Fla. 1997). If it can be shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction, then the conviction must be upheld. State v. DiGuilio, 491 so. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

It seems relatively clear that the procedural rule set out in <u>Conev</u> is intended to ensure that a defendant's right to meaningful

 $^{^5}$ Respondent notes that the First District has chosen a different approach. In Golden v. State, 688 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (on rehearing), rev. denied, 698 So. 2d 543 (Fla. 1997), the district court relinquished jurisdiction to the trial court so that the record could be supplemented with a reconstruction of the bench conference proceedings since the trial transcript did not show whether the defendant was physically present at the bench conferences or whether he conferred with his attorney about the peremptory challenges. After the record was supplemented with affidavits by the attorneys and an order from the trial court, the First District resumed its review. Even though the affidavits showed that the defendant had not been present at the bench conference where the peremptories were exercised, the district court found the error was harmless since the record showed that the defendant had consulted with counsel before the challenges, "thus, had the opportunity to participate in a meaningful way in the selection of the jury." Id. Respondent suggests that this is an unnecessary and burdensome procedure.

participation in decisions regarding the exercise of challenges, particularly peremptory challenges, is zealously protected. [] It is equally apparent that appellant's counsel consistently consulted with appellant regarding the exercise of peremptory challenges. Accordingly, there can be no question but that, although he was not 'physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges [were] exercised' [] -- i.e., at the bench -appellant did participate in a meaningful way in the decisions regarding the exercise of peremptory challenges. Thus, it would seem that the important right which the **Coney** decision was intended to protect was not impaired in any way.

State, 697 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (Defendant not prejudiced when he was in the courtroom throughout the juror questioning and heard all the responses. "He could just as well make his wishes known to his attorney during the privacy of a recess as well as he could at sidebar." It is irrelevant that the record does not conclusively establish that the attorney in fact discussed the issue of jury selection with the defendant).

The record in the instant case clearly reflects that defense counsel consulted with Petitioner prior to each and every bench conference at which strikes were exercised. The only time the record fails to reflect such a consultation was before the last bench conference at which no further strikes were exercised and both sides accepted the panel. Pursuant to Meiia, Turner, Ross, and Anderson, no reversible error has been shown.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL, BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL INVITED ANY ERROR.

A. Relevant Facts:

Prior to trial the prosecutor indicated that the State would not present evidence of any of Petitioner's prior sexual batteries. (T96)

Petitioner's sister-in-law Dawn Meads was called as a State witness. (T326) During cross-examination of Meads by defense counsel, the following exchange occurred:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Ms. Meads, if there could be one word that would sum up your feelings about Anthony Lopez, hate would be a good word?

[MEADS]: Asshole would be a better one.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Okay. Asshole. And hate, good enough?

[MEADS]: Yeah.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And you have this hate for Anthony Lopez today as you speak in this courtroom?

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, may We
approach?

THE COURT: Overruled.

* * *

[MEADS]: I'm very upset with him.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And on June 3,

1994, you hated Anthony Lopez?

[MEADS]: Since I found out he molested my daughter, I hated him.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I would ask for an instruction and move for a mistrial.

* * *

THE COURT: Okay. The jury will disregard that remark. Go ahead.

[MEADS]: But that has nothing to do with this evidence I was shown. It has nothing to do with what I was shown. I can't make that up sir.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: [] Your Honor, may we approach?

THE COURT: No. Go ahead. You opened the door.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: You have hated this man for some time, correct?

[MEADS]: Do you want me to tell you why I've hated him?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No, ma'am.

[MEADS]: Then that's irrelevant,
sir, I would think.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I'm just saying your feelings about this individual, you have hated him for a number of months, have you not?

THE COURT: That's enough of that. You can't do any better than that. Let's go onto something else. (T331-333)

The State rested at the conclusion of Meads' testimony.

(T340) At that time the following exchange occurred:

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